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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA

Darlene Smith, derivatively on behalf d
Apollo Group, Inc.,

Plaintiff,
V.

John G. Sperling, Pat¥. Sperling, Charles

B. Edelstein, Gregory W. Cappelli, Terri G.
Bishop, Dino J. Deconcini, Samuel A.

Dipiazza, Jr., Stephed. Giusto, Roy A.
Herberger, Jr., Ann Kirschner, K. Su
Redman, James R. Reis, Manuel F. Rive
George Zimmer, Joseph D’Amico, Gregot

J. Iverson, Brian L. Swartz, Brian Mueller

P. Robert Moya, Robert W. Wrube
William J. Pepicello,

Defendants,
VS.
Apollo Group, Inc., arArizona corporation,

NominalDefendant.

f No. CV 11-722-PHX-JAT
ORDER

Pending before the Court are (1) timelividual Defendants’ Motion to Dismisg

(Doc. 71), and (2) Nominal Dafdant Apollo Group, Inc.’s M@on to Dismiss Plaintiff's

Derivative Complaint (Dac74). The Court now rules on the Motions.

l. BACKGROUND

Plaintiff brings this shareholder dertixee lawsuit against various officers an
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directors of Apollo Group, Inc. (“Apollo”)alleging violatons of federal securities law$

and state law claims for breaches of fiduciary duties, abuse of control,
mismanagement, unjust enrichment, corpomdeste, and insider trading. This Cou
presided over related ptitge securities class actidn re Apollo Group, Inc. Securities
Litigation, No. CV-10-1735-PHX-JAT“@pollo 11”). Apollo Il was a shareholder clas
action suit against Apollo Groypnc. and nine officers and directors of Apollo Grou
Inc. for violations of federal securities law$he nine officer andirector Defendants in
Apollo Il were among the twenty-one individual Defendants in this tase.

Apollo is an Arizona-based-companthat owns and operates proprieta
postsecondary education instiars and is one of the largg®ivate education providers
in the United States. Studsnenrolled in Apollo instittions are entitled to receive
financial assistance pursuant to Title IVtbé Higher Education Ac20 U.S.C. § 1070,
et seg. (“Title IV”). Institutions that receive Title IVfunds must comply with
regulations, including a limit on ¢hratio of government loafiunds to cash revenue (thg
“90/10 Rule”) and limits on the percentagé student borrowers who default on the
loans (the “Cohort Default Rate”). Violatis of these regulations could result in tf
possible loss of Title IV accreditation.

A. Securities Fraud Allegations

Plaintiff alleges that Apollo’s officersand directors targeted students wi
deceptive marketing technigaie knowing that those students were “not suital
candidates for higher educatioaid did so with thentention of tappingnto “Title 1V’s
vast reservoir of federal funds.” (Complaibipc. 1 at 1 4). Platiif alleges that these
hard-sell tactics resulted increased enrollment at Apoliostitutions, but Apollo falsely
attributed the increased etinoent to valuable servicefferings and commitment to

academic quality. 1d.). To support her allegation thBefendants engaged in deceptiy

! The nine individual Defendantsamed in both actions are Gregory V)
Cappelli, Joseph L. D’Amico, Charles B. Estein, Gregory J. lvepn, Brian Mueller,
William J. Pepicello, John Sperling, Peté Sperling, and Brian L. Swartz.
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recruiting practices, Plaintiff points to examplin a report issuddly the United States
General Accounting Office (the “GAQO”) thaPlaintiff alleges show that Apollo
representatives lied about the graduation tat@rospective students and encourag

them to take the full amount ¢bans available to them, ew if taking the full amount

ed

was not necessaryld( at 1 53-55). Plaintiff also points to a Bloomberg Report of April

30, 2010 that reported that Warsity of Phoenix (an Apolleampus) recruiters went to

homeless shelters and marketed educdtiopportunities to homeless peopldd. (at
56).

Plaintiff alleges that, whilépollo Group’s Officers and Directors were makin
these false and misleading statements, Defegadibohn Sperling, Peter Sperling, Charl
B. Edelstein, Gregory W. Cappelli, Terri Bishop, Dino J. Decomui, Ann Kirschner,
K. Sue Redman, James R. Rdisseph D’Amico, Gregory J.dvson, Brian L. Swartz, P.
Robert Moya, Robert W. Wrubel, William Bepicello (the “Insider Selling Defendants’
sold over $470 millionof their privately held stock artificially inflated prices and
caused the Company to repusisk over $1.3 billion of itewn stock at artificially

inflated prices. I@. at 71 6, 38). Plaintiff allegesahthe Board improperly authorizec

Apollo’s senior officers to repurchase oatstling shares of Apollo Group common stoc¢k

at artificial prices that were the result thie false and misleadingtatements regarding
Apollo’s growth and recruitment.ld; at 11139-145).
Plaintiff alleges that, as a result ahqualified students enrolling in Apollo’s
schools, many students haddtop out and were unable tqsgy their Title IV loans. I{.
at 1 5). Plaintiff alleges, that, as a resAlollo’s compliance wh the Cohort Default
Rate was jeopardized and, in responsepliy’s officers and directors resorted t
manipulative practices to maintain réapory compliance wh Title IV. (I1d.). Plaintiff
alleges that Apollo was required to retuhe unearned portion of the proceeds of t
student’s Title IV loans to the lender, pubd maintain compliace with the Cohort

Default Rate, Apollo returnetthe entirety of the Title IV funds to the lender, even thou
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the student was entitled to hatree earned portion of the fundsedited to their tuition.
(Id.). Plaintiff alleges that Agllo then billed the studerfor the full amount of the
tuition. (d.). Plaintiff alleges that this return sfudent money to the lenders also helped
them comply with te 90/10 Rule because these studemt®y were no longer recipients
of Title IV funds, were counted toward th8% of revenues that tido be derived from
non-Title IV sources. Id. at ] 65).

Plaintiff alleges that the 90/10 calctitmm and the CohorDefault Rate were
deliberately false and misleadimgcause Apollo did not diese that it was allegedly
violating Title IV regulationsas described aboveld(at § 67).

Plaintiff also alleges that Apollo evakeal and compensated its recruiters based on

the number of studenthey enrolled in vidtion of Title IV. (d. at  57). Plaintiff

alleges that, on August 3, 2010, the GA€Bued a report that for-profit educationa
institutions, “like Apollo Goup” had engaged ilegal and fraudulent conductld( at 1
7). Plaintiff alleges that as a result o€ tlBAO report, Apollo’sshares declined from
$47.14 per share on August 21200 $38.94 on August 13020. Plaintiff alleges that,
on October 13, 2010, Apolloithdrew its previous 2011 fiscal year outlook and stated
that it would be changing admissions persal, evaluation and compensation systems,
adding a new aentation programand would reduce its emphagin third-party affiliates
for lead generation and otherwigghance its marketing approachd. @t § 131). Apollo
also stated that théompany expected a dee in new degreed enhment in the fourth
guarter of 2010 to therBt quarter of 2011.1d. at § 7).

Plaintiff alleges that “based on this newsliares in Apollo dropped 23% to a four

year low of $38. I@. at 1 8). Plaintiff alleges that Yahoo! Finance, Reuters, and the Wall

Street Journal reportedat Apollo was being sued foraeities fraud, being investigated
by the Florida AttorneyGeneral for deceptive enhment practices, and being
investigated by the SEC famsider trading between October 19 and October 26. a{

19 9-11, 132-135). Plaintiff alleges that, a®sult of these discloses, Apollo’s stock
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fell from $47.14 on August 2, 2016 $36.94 on October 26, 2010d.(at  135).

Plaintiff alleges that the followingatements were false and misleading:

e In a May 22, 2007 10-Q, Apollo athuted its enrollrent growth to
“product development,” “marketg)” and “lead generation.”ld. at | 71).

e Ina May 22, 2007 Annual Rert, Apollo falsely atibuted enrollment and
revenue growth to “comprehensivansee,” “quality educational content,”
“teaching resources, and “customer servicéd. gt § 73).

e In May 22, 2007 10-Qs, Apollo sttt that increases in New Degreed
Enrollment and increases in revenudpbd fund investment in “product
development and marketing and legeheration to ensure our continugd
growth and viabilityin the future.” (d. at 11 75, 77).

e In a May 22, 2007 conference calpollo attributed improvement on
retention rates to lead digt and delivery models. |d. at § 78).

e In a May 27, 2007 10Q-A, Defendant Bller was quoted as saying that
enrollment and revenue growth wergriutable to “further productivity
improvements from new enroliment hires, enhanced retention strategies,
“efficiencies’” in advertising spating and a branding campaign.d.( at
80).

Plaintiff alleges that Apollo Officerand Directors made similar false and
misleading statements through the remar of 2007, throughout 2008, 2009, and
continuing through June 2010. Id(at 1 81-126). Plaintiff alleges that, based on the
above statements, Apollo created thésdapublic impression that the Company|s
increased enroliment revenue resulted primarily from Aflkbility to attract new
students through enhanced and expandiftcational services and improvements |n
academic quality, when, in trutthe increased revenue résd from Apollo’s deceptive
and unsustainable business modé&d. &t 7 126).

Plaintiff alleges that, on August 6020, Apollo announcedhat it received a
request for information from the U.S. Sem&ommittee on Health, Education, Labar,
and Pensions relating to for-profit collegesaiging Title IV student financial aid.ld; at
1 129). Plaintiff alleges that, on August 2610, Apollo disclosethat it had received &
letter from the Higher LearninGommission (“*HLC") requiringApollo to provide certain

information and evidencef compliance with HLC aceditation standards. Id; at
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130).
B. Breach of Fiduciary Duty Allegations

Plaintiff alleges that Defendants breachib@ir fiduciary obligtions of trust,

loyalty, good faith, anddue care by failing to dissen@te accurate and truthful

information regarding the Company’s opevas, performance, magement, projections,

and forecasts. Id. at 165). Plaintiff alleges thahembers of the Audit Committee

breached their duties under the Audit ComeeatiCharter because they reviewed t
financial statements with the allegedhalse information and approved of thos
statements. I4. at 1 166). Plaintiff alleges that f2adants breached their duties arisin
from their positions of control and authoriéyd access to impropegpresentations of
Apollo Group, including infomation regarding the student admissions rate and fu
growth rate. Id. at 11 167-169). Plaintiff allegesathDefendants breached their duty
exercise reasonable and prudsopervision over the management, policies, practid

and internal controls over the companid. at 170).

C.  Conspiracy, Aiding and Abetting, and Concerted Action
Allegations

Plaintiff alleges that the individual Deferda aided and abetted and assisted e
other in breaching their respeati duties by disguising their breach of fiduciary dut
misrepresenting Apollo’s future business peds, and making it appear that Apollo wx
in compliance with the Cohort Deftt Rate and the 90/10 Ruléd(at 1 173-177).

D.  TheCountsof the Complaint

As a result of the above allegations, Ridi alleges claims of (1) violations of
section 10(b) of the Securities and ExchaAgeand Securities and Exchange Rule 10
5 against certain individual Defendants (Colnt(2) violations ofsection 20(a) of the
Securities and Exchange Actaagst the Director Defendants (Count Il), (3) breach
fiduciary duty against all Defendants (Codihy, (4) breach of fiduciary duty for insider

selling and misappropriation afformation against certaimdividual Defendants (Count

ure
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IV), (5) breach of fiduciary duty for authorizing and failing to halt the company’s st
purchases against the direcBefendants (Count V), (6) waste of corporate assets aga
all Defendants (Count VI), and (7) unjusirichment against certain individug
Defendants (Count VII).
D. TheDemand

Plaintiff alleges that, pursuant to iaona Revised States section 10-742,
Plaintiff made a written litigation demand dine Board of Directors on December ¢
2010, and did not receive a responde. dt 1 12, 182-184).

. THE MOTIONSTO DISMISS AND STANDING

Both Apollo and the Individual Defendanthave filed Motioe to Dismiss.
Apollo’s Motion to Dismiss solg challenges Plaintiff's standing to bring this action ¢
behalf of Apollo. The Individual Defelants challenge the Complaint on seve
grounds, including standing.  After initialview of the Parties’ arguments regardin
standing, this Court found that, under the winstances of this case, Plaintiff had failg
to adequately allege standing. (Doc. 83ith ex rel. Apollo Group, Inc. v. Sperling, No.
CV 11-722-PHX-JAT, 2012VL 1745594, at * 1 (D. Ariz. May 16, 201%).Although
Plaintiff failed to respond to the Motions Bismiss with any evidence of her standin

the Court nonetheless allowed Plaintiff an additional opportunity to allege her stand

> At the pleading stagehe Complaint must “alleg¢hat the plaintiff was a
shareholder at the time of the transaction complained of, or that the plaintiff's shé
membership later devolved on it by opermataf law.” Fed.R.Civ.P. 23.1(b)(1Baca v.
Crown, No. 10-16718, 458 Felppx. 694, 696 (9th Cir. Nov21, 2011 (stating that it
was necessary for Plaintiff tehow that he was a shhodder at the time of the
transaction/events complainefl because a derivative plaintiff may only complain abg
actions that allegedly occurred during fheriod for which he held shares).

After considering Plaintiff's arguments thahe need not allege with specificit
the dates that she was a shareholdeApollo, the Court fond that, under the
circumstances of this case chuspecificity is requiredSee Smith, 2012 WL 1745594, at
*2 (“where, as here, Plaintiff has claims tlspan over three years and Defendants hj
challenged Plaintiff's standing/contemporaneous ownershg,Court has no way tg
adequately analyze whetheraftiff has standing to asseall of her claims . . .
[a]ccordingly, the Court will give Plaintifbne final chance to &blish that she has
standing to assert the derivatielims [and] such supplement shadlely address the
standing issue discussed herein.”) (emphasis addedy.
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bring this case on behalf éfpollo and ordered Plaintiff tsupplement her response t
the Motion to Dismiss.I{l. at *2).

Plaintiff filed a supplement to her Respens(Doc. 84). However, rather tha
directly allege standing, Plaintiff chose tceusur of the five pages allotted to reargdu
that she had no obligation tbeme standing, citing to the same cases she previously ¢
to in her Response tbe Motion to Dismiss. It is impper procedurally for Plaintiff to
use the Court’s allowance af supplement, which the Court specified should be u
solely to allege standing, as the opportunityassert what is eentially a Motion for
Reconsideration.

Plaintiff aggravated this improper courbg failing to even tiempt to meet the
high standard for reconsiderationSee Motorola, Inc. v. J.B. Rodgers Mechanical
Contractors, Inc., 215 F.R.D. 581, 586 (DAriz. 2003) (finding that reconsideration i
only appropriate when there are material diffiees in fact or law, material facts aros
after the Court’'s decision, or the movanakes a convincing showing that the col
failed to consider material facts and waiithat “[nJo motion for reconsideration sha
repeat in any manner any omlwritten argument made ingoort of or in opposition to
the original motion.”). Ratr, Plaintiff continues to g on a distinguishable, non-
binding 1944 Second Circuitedision, which she previouslgited in her original
Response to thilotion to Dismiss® This does not constitun intervenig change in
controlling law or any showing théte Court failed to considenaterial facts in its initial
decision.

Further, the Second Circuiipinion suggests that a meoproper challenge to 3

23(e) violation would be a motion for a madefinite statement under Rule 12(eSee

® Notably the Second Circuit's opinioresns to suggest a pleading standard t

is inconsistent with the United &és Supreme Court’s decisionslgal and Twombly.
See Asheroft v. Igbal, 556 U.S. 662678 (2009);Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S.
544, 555 42007) (holding that to survivaretion to dismiss, a coplaint must contain
sufficient factual matter, which, if acceptes true, states a claim to relief that
“plausible on its face.”).
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Galdi v. Jones, 141 F.2d 984, 992 (2n@ir. 1944). Plaintiff cite to this very language
from Galdi in her supplement to tHéotion to Dismiss, but appes to completely ignore
the fact that, by allowing her to suppleméet Response to the Maon to Dismiss, this
Court essentially ordered Plaintiff to make arendefinite statement, to avoid having th
case dismissed for lack of standfhg.

Finally, it appears that Plaintiff makesighrargument becausehen required to
actually allege standing with some specificByaintiff's allegationin her Complaint that
she “was a shareholder of élpp Group at the time of #htransactions and event
complained of herein, and has continuously Hall stock” is patently false. Plaintiff
admits in her Supplement thetite became an Apollo stocktier on August 19, 2009 ang
the events and transactions alleged indoanplaint allegedly occurred throughout 200
2008, 2009, and 2010Such a false allegation inghComplaint cannot be saved b
Plaintiffs ongoing contention that contemrpoeous ownership isot a requirement.
That is a legal argument arths little to do with Plainfi's false factual allegation
(whether legally required to allege standorgnot) that she did indeed own Apollo stod

at the “time of the transactions and etgelcomplained of herein.” Based on th

% Plaintiff also argues that it is improder the Court to requér Plaintiff to plead
additional facts in a pleading and the Courbdd only review theour corners of the
Complaint in deciding # Motion to Dismiss. If the Coucbnfined its review to the four
corners of the Complaint, Phaiff's Complaint would be dismsed for lack of standing.

S

i

_\l

k

e

the Motion to Dismiss.See Smith, 2012 WL 1745594, at *2 (“IPlaintiff fails to file a
su?plement within 10 days of the datetbis Order, the Motions to Dismiss pendi
before this Court will be grardewithout further warning.”).

The Court made this clear its Order allowing Plaintiff tasupplement her Responser]o

~ The Court will assume that Plaintiff'sgument that the Court should confine i
review of the sufficiency ofhe Complaint to théour corners of th&€€omplaint is not a
concession that Plaintiff’'s @aplaint should be dismissedrftack of standing. If the
Court did confine its review to the Complaingwever, the Court would have no choid
but to grant the Motions to Dismiss féack of standing. The Court allowed a
supplement to give Plaintiff an opportunity agoid dismissal based on a deficiency th
Plaintiff may have been able to cure with significant furthemrmotion practice. = If
anything, Defendants have beagjudiced by the Courtwillingness to look outside the
four corners of the Compldirto determine whether Pldifi has adequately asserte

standing. However, Defendantsve not objected to this%eitable procedure, so the
0

Court will consider Plaintiff’'s supplement ftiie purposes

ourt considering the Motions
Dismiss.
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foregoing, the Court is comlbed to remind Plaintiff's couns¢hat Federal Rule of Civil
Procedure 11 requires factual contentiongeliein the complaint (or any other pleading
to have evidentiary supporgee Fed. R. Civ. P. 11.

Nonetheless, the Court will moconsider whether Plaifitihas standing to allege
the claims made on behalf of Apollo. Pigif argues that, although she did not ow
stock at the times of all of the transacti@ml events complained of, as alleged in I
Complaint, she still has standing to britlgese claims under the continuing wron
doctrine.

A. Legal Standard

The Ninth Circuit Court of Appeals haseld that, to meet the continuou
ownership requirement in FedeRule of Civil Procedure 23.1(a), a shareholder must
a shareholder at the time of the alleged \gfohacts and must rataownership of the
stock for the duration of the lawsuiQuinn v. Anvil Corp., 620 F.3d 1005, 1012 (9th Cir

2010) (internal citation omitted)Likewise, under Arizona law,

A shareholder may not commence or maintain a derivative
proceeding unless the shareholder both:

1. Was a shareholder of the coration at the time of the act
or omission complained of drecame a shareholder through
trar;]sfer_ by operation of law fno one who was a shareholder
at that time.

2. Fairly and adequately reggents the interests of the
corporation in enforcing theght of the corporation.

Ariz. Rev. Stat. Ann. § 10-741.

Delaware has recognized a limitezkception to the continuous ownership

requirement, which, under certain circuamstes, allows a PIdiff to maintain a
derivative suit for certain violations thatdsn before the Plaintiff held stock in th
corporation and continued intlaintiff's acquisition of stdc. The Delaware Court of
Chancery has noted that this exception “hagnbeen defined by Dwwvare courts with
much precision,” but it is clear that “the dan& is a narrow one that typically is applie

only in unusual situations, su@s where a plaintiff acquires his stock after a particy
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transaction has begun butftse it is completed.” Desimone v. Barrows, 924 A.2d 908
(Del Ch. 2007). Further, under Delaware ldthe continuing wrong doctrine does ng
bestow standing upon a stockholder to cimgiéetransactions occurring before he boug
his stock simply because they are similar datesl to transactionsr other conduct that
occurred later.”ld.

Plaintiff has not cited to any authorityy the Ninth Cirait or in Arizona
suggesting that the Ninth Circuit or Arizamave adopted th@wtinuing wrong doctrine
or any doctrine of equivaleac However, the Court findbat, even if the continuing
wrong exception was applicable in thesasyictions, this narrow exception does nq
apply to the claims currently fmee the Court. In this cas®laintiff alleges a variety of
separate false and misleading statements maglea period of years that were alleged
slowly revealed to the public, causing Ap@&lstock price to dip on several different
occasions. These allegations dwllenge transactions occugi before Plaintiff bought
her stock. While these allegations are simitathe allegedly faks statements Plaintiff
alleges that Defendants made after she owfpollo stock, suchsimilarity does not
confer standing on Plaintiff to challenge tsantions that occurred before she owned st

stock. Accordingly, even ithe continuing wrong doctringid apply as an exception tq

standing in the Ninth Circuit and/or Arizan@laintiff has not shown that the continuing

wrong doctrine applies to this case.

Accordingly, Plaintiff has failed tosatisfy the contemporaneous/continuo

ht

ly

Ich

)

IS

ownership requirement of Rui8.1, and therefore lacks standing to bring a shareholder

derivative suit based on alleged acts that oecuprior to her stock ownership. Th
Court will not undertake to parse Plaintiff@mplaint to try to dermine which alleged
acts she might have standingassert. Accordingly, thedirt will grant Plaintiff leave
to amend her Complaint to make allegatitrest she actually has standing to assert.
Further, Plaintiff acknowledges thit re Apollo Group, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. CV
10-1735-PHX-JAT, 2011 WL 51087 (D. Ariz. Oct. 27, 2011), which was released af

Plaintiff filed her Complaint,found that allegations ndwridentical to Plaintiff's

-11 -

S

fer




© 00 N O O b~ W N P

N N NN NN NNDNRRRRR R R R R
0w ~N o 00~ W NP O © 00N O 0 W N P O

allegations were not sufficient to state claiomgler sections 10(b20(a) and Rule 10b-5
of the Exchange Act. Plaintiff requedsave to amend her @Gwlaint to cure the
deficiencies identified in thatpinion.

Because the Court has found leave toraangecessary to correaghy deficiencies
with regard to Plaintiff's standing, Plaintiff should take this oppmaty to correct any
other existing deficiencies with her CompkainThe Court noteghat in any amended
Complaint, Plaintiff must plead fraud with gtiaularity as required by Federal Rule g
Civil Procedure 9(b) and must include a mroperification in compliance with Federag
Rule of Civil Procedure 23(b) and 28 U.S.C. §1746.Further, the Court notes tha
although Plaintiff names twenty-one immiual Defendants, she fails to includ
allegations related to specific Defendant3o the extent Plaiiff chooses to name
individual Defendants in her amended Conmilashe must incluel specific allegations
about that specific Defendant’s actionsdashe must include facts connecting tho
actions to her legal claims. Plaintiff shoalido carefully examine her allegations in ligf
of this Court’s decisions iApollo I1l. See In re Apollo Group, Inc. Sec. Litig., No. CV
10-1735-PHX-JAT, 2011 WL 51087 (D. Ariz. Oct. 27, 2011)n re Apollo Group, Inc.
Sec. Litig., No. CV 10-1735-PHX-JAT2012 WL 2376378 (D. Az. June 22, 2012).

> Plaintiff argues that 28 U.S.C. § 1746ould not apply to Federal Rule of Civ
Procedure 23.1’s verification reiggment because it is an egittiary rule, not a rule of
pleading and matters of evidence are nemgmuired to be statedh a Plaintiff's

Nt

Complaint. The Court disages. While it may be true that a non-verified complaint

need not meet evidentia standards, once a complaiist verified, it must meet the
requirements for verification. This is dmecause a verified complaint can be us

throughout the case for igentiary purposes, such as iretiummary judgment context.

Accordingly, if a Complaint is required to berified, as under Rule 23.1, it must be al
to withstand scrutiny as a veéeid Complaint forany purpose throughothe case, as ig
required by 28 U.&. 8§ 1746.

Plaintiff also argues thaif the Court required 23.1 vifications to comply with
28 U.S.C. § 1746, the Court would impose gureement not present in Rule 23.1. Th
Court disagrees. Plaintiff cites to no cases siu@iport this conterdn. 28 U.S.C. § 1746
unambiguously applies to “any law of the United States or . . raley regulation,
order, or requirement made pursuant t®, [avhich requireshny matter . . required or
permitted to be supported, evidenced, estiadtls or proved by th sworn declaration,
verification, certificate, statement, oath, or affatain writing of the person making the
same” 28 U.S.C. § 1746 (emphasis addetfle Court sees noason why Rule 23.1
would be an exception to the statute.

-12 -

ed

le




© 00 N O o b~ W N B

N N NN NN NNDNRRRRR R R R R
0 ~N o 00 W NP O © 0N O 0 M W N B O

[11. CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing,

IT 1SORDERED that the Individual Defendant®Motion to Dismiss (Doc. 71) is

granted.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Nominal Defendant Apollo Group, Inc.’$
Motion to Dismiss Plaintiff's Derivatie Complaint (Doc. 74) is granted.
IT ISFINALLY ORDERED that Plaintiff is grantedeave to amend and shall
file an amended complaint withihirty days of the date of this Order. If Plaintiff dog

not file an amended Complaiwnithin thirty days,the Clerk of the Cart, must, without

further notice, enter a judgmentdimissal in this action.

Dated this 25th day of July, 2012.

-

4
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JTames A. Teilbor% /
United States District Judge
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